# **RECEIVED**

12-17-2019

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** COURT OF APPEALSOF WISCONSIN

### DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2019AP001785-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TORY J. AGNEW,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment Of Conviction and Order Denying Defendant's Postconviction Motion for Resentencing, Entered in the Dodge County Circuit Court, the Honorable Brian A. Pfitzinger, Presiding

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF **DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

JEREMY A. NEWMAN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1084404

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862  $(608)\ 264-8566$ newmanj@opd.wi.gov

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

Tory J. Agnew pled no contest to an enhanced unclassified felony with a maximum sentence on the base offense of 18 months initial confinement and 6 months extended supervision. Is Agnew entitled to resentencing where (1) the circuit court unlawfully applied the penalty enhancer to increase Agnew's maximum term of extended supervision from 6 months to 1 year and (2) imposed a term of initial confinement of 3 years that violates the "25% rule" set forth in Wis. Stats. §§ 973.01(2)(c)1. and (2)(d)?

The circuit court denied Agnew's postconviction motion for resentencing.

### POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The issue presented involves a fairly complex question of statutory interpretation concerning the "TIS-II" version of Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(c)1. as applied to an enhanced sentence imposed on an unclassified felony. Further, relevant precedent, which interpreted the "TIS-I" version of Wis. Stats. §§ 973.01(2)(b), (c), and (d), is only partially controlling as applied to the issue presented in this case. Thus, this case presents the court with an opportunity to enunciate and apply a new rule of law concerning the interpretation and application of the TIS-II version of Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2).

Case 2019AP001785 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-17-2019 Page 8 of 43

While Agnew believes the briefs should fully address the issue presented, he would welcome oral argument should the court deem it necessary or helpful to the court's resolution of the issue presented. Publication will likely be appropriate under Wis. Stats. §§ (Rule) 809.23(1)(a)1. and 2.

### INTRODUCTION

The issue presented in this case is seemingly simple: is the sentence imposed upon Agnew legal? However, whether the circuit court imposed a lawful sentence and whether Agnew is entitled to resentencing depends upon a complex question of statutory interpretation that involves relevant precedent that interpreted prior versions of the applicable statutes. Further, the applicable statutes have been substantively modified such that the relevant precedent is only partially on point.

As will be fully explained below, a proper resolution of the issue presented in this case requires, first, the statutory interpretation of the TIS-II versions of the Wisconsin Statutes applicable to Agnew's sentence and, second, the application of the relevant holdings of precedent that interpreted and applied the TIS-I versions of the relevant statutes.

As relevant to Agnew's case, the most significant statutory change from TIS-I to TIS-II is the addition of subdivision 1. to the penalty

enhancement provision in Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(c). Unlike the TIS-I version (see Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(c) (1997-2002), the TIS-II version explicitly subjects any enhanced term of confinement to the "25% rule" set forth in Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(d). See Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(c)1. What this means is that while Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(c)1. allows the maximum term of confinement that could be imposed under Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(b)10. to be increased "by any applicable penalty enhancement statute," any increase is explicitly capped to ensure that the term of extended supervision is at least 25 percent of the increased term of confinement.

As will be demonstrated below, the plain text of the applicable statutes and the controlling precedent yield three key constraints on Agnew's sentence:

(1) The maximum term of extended supervision that may be imposed, if the circuit court seeks to enhance Agnew's term of confinement pursuant to the applicable repeater enhancer, is 6 months. See State v. Kleven, 2005 WI App 66, ¶¶24-27, ¶26 n.6, 280 Wis. 2d 468, 696 N.W.2d 226; see also Wis. Stats. §§ 973.01(2)(b)10., (2)(c)1., and (2)(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All references to the Wisconsin Statutes in this brief are to the 2017-18 version except where otherwise noted. Included in the Defendant-Appellant's Appendix at 106-113, are copies of these "TIS-I" versions of Wis. Stats. §§ 973.01(1) and (2) (Wisconsin Statutes 1997-2002) and the "TIS-II" version applicable to Agnew's case (Wisconsin Statutes 2017-18).

Case 2019AP001785 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-17-2019 Page 10 of 43

- (2) The maximum term of confinement the court may order is 24 months because any of confinement amount in excess of 24 months. would violate Wis. Stat. 973.01(2)(c)1.'s limitation that any enhanced term of confinement imposed must not violate paragraph (2)(d)'s "25% rule." See Wis. Stats. §§ 973.01(2)(c)1., (2)(d), (2)(b)10.
- (3) The maximum period of imprisonment that Agnew faces is 30 months: the maximum term of confinement (24 months) plus the maximum term of extended supervision (6 months). See Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2).

Agnew is entitled to resentencing because the sentence imposed by the circuit court violates each of the above constraints.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 11, 2017, the state charged Tory J. Agnew with four criminal counts stemming from an automobile crash on Interstate 41 in Dodge County. (1). Eventually, Agnew pled no contest, as charged in an amended information, to operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of a controlled substance and causing injury, while having a minor passenger in the vehicle, and as a repeater, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 346.63(2)(a)1., 346.65(3m), and 939.62(1)(b). (58; 60). Pursuant to the plea agreement, the state agreed to recommend a sentence of four years imprisonment, consisting of 3 years initial confinement and 1 year extended

supervision, and Agnew was free to argue for a lesser sentence. (60).

The court accepted Agnew's plea on December 21, 2018. (91). At the outset of the plea hearing. the court noted off-the-record an conversation in which the parties alerted the court "to a concern regarding the sentence and the interplay of various cases and the statutes of the (91:2). The court further State of Wisconsin." explained:

> following up on that discussion, and I have had a chance to review the Harris case and then subsequent to that there's Volk and subsequent to that there's Jackson, so if you're trying to figure out why, what was taking so long was I was in the process of reading three court of appeals' decisions trying to make sure that the sentence that the Court -- or at least looking at the structure as [the prosecutor] put it, that it was sound if the Court were to go that direction.

(91:3). The court then had a discussion with the state about its agreed upon sentencing recommendation:

> Court: Attorney Thompson, the amount of

> > initial confinement you believe that would be applicable at this point is 66 months; is that correct,

18 plus 48?

Yes, 66 months of confinement Prosecutor:

> followed by six months of extended supervision, is that what your (sic)

proposing, Judge?

Court: Well, no, that'sCase 2019AP001785 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-17-2019 Page 12 of 43

Prosecutor: I come up with 72 months. If you

face two years for the original count, then an additional four, that's a total of six years for six

times 12 is 72.

Court: Right, but the underlying charge is

an unclassified two year felony.

Prosecutor: Correct.

Court: And his exposure on that offense,

what do you believe, without the enhancer, what do you believe I could sentence him to on that

offense?

Prosecutor: On that I believe you could give

him 18 months of confinement, six months extended supervision.

Court: That's -- and that's where we come

up with the four years plus 18 is confinement, just that part is 66

months.

Prosecutor: I agree.

Court: Okay. And as far as extended

supervision, six months?

Prosecutor: Six months; unless let's say you

gave him two years in prison, I think you could give him 12 months and 12 months. That would be a legal sentence. So he could get more extended supervision. The question became if we're going to add on that enhancer, does that immediately

obligate us to reduce the extended supervision down to six months. And I'm, my — what I'm going to recommend is three years of confinement and I'm asking for 12 months extended supervision. If the Court thinks only six is available, that's fine. I still want to recommend the three years of

confinement. That's my position.

(91:3-5).

During its plea colloquy with Agnew, the court briefly returned to the sentencing issues and asked the parties to:

put together a very short letter detailing what you believe to be the maximum term of confinement and the maximum term of extended supervision. As I said, I was trying desperately to read these three cases. There is, I believe on a Westlaw search 72 cases came up. I was reading what I thought was the most relevant to an immediate decision, but I would like the two of you to take a look at this issue. I'm not particularly interested in having a bunch of postjudgment litigation.

(91:9-10).

Thereafter, the court accepted Agnew's plea and scheduled sentencing for a later date. (91:21-24).

As directed, the parties filed letters with the court prior to sentencing addressing the parties' respective positions as to Agnew's maximum overall term of imprisonment, including the maximum term

Case 2019AP001785 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-17-2019 Page 14 of 43

of initial confinement and maximum term of extended supervision. (62; 64).

First, the state explained that, as a result of his plea, Agnew faced a maximum sentence of two years imprisonment on his underlying felony conviction. (62:1). The state then asserted that, as a result of the applicable repeater enhancer, Agnew's sentence could be increased by four years and that Agnew therefore faced a maximum term of imprisonment of 6 years. (62:1). The state then argued that Agnew's 2-year sentence could be lawfully underlying bifurcated as either 1 year initial confinement and 1 year extended supervision or 18 months initial confinement and 6 months extended supervision and sentencing that the state's recommendation "contemplates the former bifurcation." (62:2).

In other words, the state argued that the court could and should utilize two years of the repeater enhancer to increase Agnew's sentence two years imprisonment, bifurcated evenly between initial confinement and extended supervision, to bifurcated four years imprisonment, 3 years initial confinement and 1 year extended supervision. (62:2). At the same time, the state recognized that if the court used the "latter bifurcation" of 18 months initial confinement and months extended supervision, then two years of the repeater enhancer would result in an unlawful sentence because the "term of extended supervision may not be less than 25 percent of the length of the term of confinement in prison," citing Wis. Stats. §§ 973.01(2)(b)10. and (2)(d). (62:2).

Case 2019AP001785 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-17-2019 Page 15 of 43

In Agnew's letter brief, he argued that prior to applying the applicable penalty enhancer, the court must sentence Agnew to the maximum amount of initial confinement authorized by law on the "base offense." (64:3). Thus, contrary to the state's argument, Agnew argued that the court could not simple choose to enhance a base sentence of 1 year confinement and 1 year extended supervision and must, if the court sought to enhance Agnew's sentence, apply the repeater enhancer to increase Agnew's underlying maximum sentence: 18 months confinement and 6 months supervision. (64:3 contra 62:2).

Further, because the term of extended supervision may never be less than 25 percent of the term of initial confinement imposed, Agnew argued that only 6 months of the repeater enhancer could lawfully be applied, which would yield a maximum bifurcated sentence of 24 months initial confinement and 6 months extended supervision. (64:3).

At sentencing, the court first noted that it had received the parties' sentencing "memos." (86:3). The state then recommended a sentence of four years imprisonment, consisting of 3 initial years confinement and 1 year extended supervision. (86:13). Agnew, through counsel, argued for a sentence of two years imprisonment, consisting of 18 months initial confinement and 6 months extended supervision. (86:19). The court then imposed the sentence recommended by the state. (86:30; 71; App. 101-02).

Case 2019AP001785 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-17-2019 Page 16 of 43

After sentencing, Agnew filled a postconviction motion for resentencing, in which he renewed his argument that the maximum overall sentence available to the court was 30 months imprisonment, consisting of 24 months initial confinement and 6 months extended supervision. (74). After a non-evidentiary hearing, the court denied Agnew's postconviction motion. (92:12-13; 77; App. 103-05).

This appeal follows.

#### ARGUMENT

Agnew Is Entitled to Resentencing Because the Sentence Imposed Is Unlawful.

#### A. Introduction and standard of review

Agnew seeks resentencing, under *State v. Volk*, 2002 WI App 274, ¶¶46-50, 258 Wis. 2d 584, 654 N.W.2d 24, because the sentence imposed exceeds the applicable overall maximum term of imprisonment, the maximum term of initial confinement, and the maximum term of extended supervision. Agnew does not challenge the circuit court's exercise of sentencing discretion. Rather, Agnew challenges whether the court imposed a lawful sentence pursuant to the relevant sentencing statutes.

The interpretation of the relevant sentencing statutes presents a question of law subject to independent appellate review. See State v. Kleven,

Case 2019AP001785 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-17-2019 Page 17 of 43

280 Wis. 2d 468, ¶8; State v. Jackson, 2004 WI 29, ¶11, 270 Wis. 2d 113, 676 N.W.2d 872.

The goal of statutory interpretation is to discern the intent of the legislature. State v. Jackson, 270 Wis. 2d 113, ¶12. Statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statue and if the meaning is plain, a reviewing court ordinarily stops its inquiry. State v. Johnson, 2007 WI 107, ¶28, 304 Wis. 2d 318, 735 N.W.2d 505 (citing State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110). Courts interpret statutory language in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes. Id.

# B. The relevant statutes applicable to Agnew's sentencing claim.

Ultimately, this case concerns how the circuit court may apply the habitual criminality penalty enhancer to Agnew's unclassified felony that has an underlying maximum term of imprisonment of 2-years. Thus, the relevant statutes include the statutes related to the underlying charge to which Agnew pled, the habitual criminality penalty enhancer statute, Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(b), and Wis. Stats. §§ 973.01(1) and (2), which set forth the requirements the circuit court must comply with to impose a valid bifurcated sentence.

Agnew stands convicted of operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of a controlled substance and causing injury, while having a minor Case 2019AP001785 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-17-2019 Page 18 of 43

passenger in the vehicle, as a repeater, in violation of Wis. Stats. §§ 346.63(2)(a)1., 346.65(3m), and 939.62(1)(b).

Subdivision 346.63(2)(a)1. makes it unlawful to cause injury to another person by the operation of a vehicle while under the influence of a controlled substance. Subsection 346.65(3m) makes the offense a felony and provides for a maximum period of imprisonment of two years for a violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(2) if there was a minor passenger under 16 years of age in the motor vehicle at the time of the violation.

Additionally, Agnew's 2-year maximum term of imprisonment may be increased "by not more than four years," as allowed by the applicable statutes, because he was convicted and sentenced as a repeater, with a prior felony conviction, under Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(b). The habitual criminality or "repeater" penalty enhancer applicable to Agnew provides the following:

If the actor is a repeater, as that term is defined in sub. (2), and the present conviction is for any crime for which imprisonment may be imposed... the maximum term of imprisonment prescribed by law for that crime may be increased as follows: ... A maximum term of imprisonment of more than one year but not more than 10 years may be increased by not more than 2 years if the prior convictions were for misdemeanors and by not more than 4 years if the prior conviction was for a felony.

Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(b).

Case 2019AP001785 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-17-2019 Page 19 of 43

Next, Wis. Stats. §§ 973.01(1) and (2) set forth various requirements applicable to sentences of imprisonment to the Wisconsin state prisons for felonies committed on or after December 31, 1999. Sections (1) and (2) provide the following:

973.01(1) BIFURCATED SENTENCE REQUIRED. Except as provided in sub. (3), whenever a court sentences a person to imprisonment in the Wisconsin state prisons for a felony committed on or after December 31, 1999, or a misdemeanor committed on or after February 1, 2003, the court shall impose a bifurcated sentence under this section.

973.01(2) STRUCTURE OF BIFURCATED SENTENCES. A bifurcated sentence is a sentence that consists of a term of confinement in prison followed by a term of extended supervision under s. 302.113. The total length of a bifurcated sentence equals the length of the term of confinement in prison plus the length of the term of extended supervision. An order imposing a bifurcated sentence under this section shall comply with all of the following:

(a) Total length of bifurcated sentence. Except as provided in par. (c), the total length of the bifurcated sentence may not exceed the maximum period of imprisonment specified in s. 939.50 (3), if the crime is a classified felony, or the maximum term of imprisonment provided by statute for the crime, if the crime is not a classified felony, plus additional imprisonment authorized by any applicable penalty enhancement statutes.

- (b) Confinement portion of bifurcated sentence. The portion of the bifurcated sentence that imposes a term of confinement in prison may not be less than one year and, except as provided in par. (c), is subject to whichever of the following limits is applicable:
- 1. For a Class B felony, the term of confinement in prison may not exceed 40 years.
- 3. For a Class C felony, the term of confinement in prison may not exceed 25 years.
- 4. For a Class D felony, the term of confinement in prison may not exceed 15 years.
- 5. For a Class E felony, the term of confinement in prison may not exceed 10 years.
- 6m. For a Class F felony, the term of confinement in prison may not exceed 7 years and 6 months.
- 7. For a Class G felony, the term of confinement in prison may not exceed 5 years.
- 8. For a Class H felony, the term of confinement in prison may not exceed 3 years.
- 9. For a Class I felony, the term of confinement in prison may not exceed one year and 6 months.
- 10. For any crime other than one of the following, the term of confinement in prison may not exceed 75 percent of the total length of the bifurcated sentence:
- a. A felony specified in subds. 1. to 9.
- b. An attempt to commit a classified felony if the attempt is punishable under s. 939.32 (1) (intro.).

- (c) Penalty enhancement. <sup>2</sup>
- 1. Subject to the minimum period of extended supervision required under par. (d), the maximum term of confinement in prison specified in par. (b) may be increased by any applicable penalty enhancement statute. If the maximum term of confinement in prison specified in par. (b) is increased under this paragraph, the total length of the bifurcated sentence that may be imposed is increased by the same amount.
- 2. If more than one of the following penalty enhancement statutes apply to a crime, the court shall apply them in the order listed in calculating the maximum term of imprisonment for that crime:

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