RECEIVED
02-14-2020
CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2019AP1785-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TORY J. AGNEW,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DODGE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE BRIAN A. PFITZINGER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN W. KELLIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083400

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court imposed a lawful sentence.

Agnew argues the circuit court imposed a sentence that exceeded the maximum permissible terms of both initial confinement and extended supervision. (Agnew's Br. 3–4, 27–31.) He is wrong. This Court has already explained two reasons why a vital principle upon which Agnew bases his argument—that a circuit court must first impose the maximum possible terms of initial confinement and extended supervision prior to imposing a penalty enhancer—does not apply to his sentence. Therefore, his analysis is flawed, the

Case 2019AP001785 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-14-2020 Page 9 of 22

circuit court's sentence was lawful, and this Court should affirm.

A. Rules governing bifurcated sentences

Except for life sentences, a circuit court must impose a bifurcated sentence when sentencing a person to imprisonment in Wisconsin state prisons for felonies committed after December 31, 1999. Wis. Stat. § 973.01(1). Any sentence over one year incarceration must be a bifurcated prison sentence. Wis. Stat. §§ 973.01(1), 973.02.

Any bifurcated prison sentence needs to abide by several rules:

First, where the crime is not a classified felony, as is the case here, the total length of the bifurcated sentence, meaning the sum of the length of the terms of initial confinement and extended supervision, must not exceed the maximum term of imprisonment provided by statute for the crime, "plus additional imprisonment authorized by any applicable penalty enhancement statutes." Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(a).

Second, a sentencing court must maintain certain ratios between the ordered terms of initial confinement and extended supervision. The initial confinement term may be no less than one year nor more than 75 percent of the aggregate sentence. Wis. Stat. §§ 973.01(2)(b), 973.01(2)(b)(10). Similarly, the extended supervision portion of the bifurcated sentence may be no less than 25 percent of the ordered term of initial confinement. Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(d).

Third, "[s]ubject to the minimum period of extended supervision required under [Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(d)], the maximum term of confinement in prison specified in [Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(b)] may be increased by any applicable penalty enhancement statute." Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(c)1.

Any penalty enhancer is limited to extending the period of initial confinement; it cannot be divided between initial Case 2019AP001785 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-14-2020 Page 10 of 22

confinement and extended supervision. *State v. Volk*, 2002 WI App 274, 258 Wis. 2d 584, 654 N.W.2d 24.

B. A circuit court is not required to first impose a maximum term of confinement for an unenhanced crime before applying a penalty enhancer.

Although seemingly complex, the validity of Agnew's analysis turns on a necessary predicate: that a circuit court may only impose a penalty enhancer if it has already imposed the maximum term of confinement for the base, unenhanced offense. (Agnew's Br. 29.)

1. The vital question is whether the maximum portions of the bifurcated sentence without the enhancer must be imposed before the court determines how much of the enhancer may apply.

As the State shall explain, Agnew's faulty premise described above undermines his entire argument; his claim must therefore fail. But before addressing the case law concerning that principle, the State begins by explaining how the rules governing bifurcated sentences apply in Agnew's case and how the parties' interpretations diverge in application.

Absent a penalty enhancer, Agnew's unenhanced, unclassified felony charge was punishable, per the statute, by up to two years; specifically, the statute provides a maximum penalty of no "more than one year," and then states that if there was a minor in the vehicle (as was the case here), the maximum period of imprisonment is "doubled." Wis. Stat. § 346.65(3m).

Then, pursuant to section 973.01(2)(a), because it is an unclassified felony, the maximum sentence equals "the maximum term of imprisonment provided by statute for the

Case 2019AP001785 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-14-2020 Page 11 of 22

crime . . . plus additional imprisonment authorized by any applicable penalty enhancement statutes." Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(a).

So for Agnew's base offense alone, the circuit court could impose, at most, 18 months of initial confinement to comply with Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(b)10., which caps the maximum term of confinement to 75 percent of the total length of the bifurcated sentence. Eighteen months is 75 percent of 24 months—the total maximum penalty for the base offense. Subtracting the 18-month maximum permissible initial confinement from the maximum 24-month bifurcated sentence would yield only six months remaining for a term of extended supervision.

Up to this point Agnew and the State agree—had Agnew pled no contest to the offense without the habitual offender penalty enhancer, the maximum period of initial confinement the court could have imposed was 18 months. With that maximum period of initial confinement, the maximum period of extended supervision would have been six months.

It is important to remember, though, that the court could have also, on the base offense alone, imposed *more* extended supervision than six months, if it imposed *less* than 18 months of initial confinement. For example, the court on the base offense could have imposed one year of initial confinement followed by one year of extended supervision.

But here the parties diverge when determining how the penalty enhancer may be applied: Does the court have to impose the maximum period of initial confinement on the base offense *first*, which it then must use to determine how much of the enhancer may be applied (Agnew's position)? Or, may the court instead allocate the initial confinement and extended supervision for the base offense without imposing

the maximum penalty, and impose the penalty enhancer from there (the State's position)?

Keep in mind that for an unclassified felony, the statutes do not provide maximum periods of initial confinement and extended supervision.

But, if valid, Agnew's essential principle referenced above would prevent the court from imposing more than 24 months of initial confinement on Agnew's enhanced charge, because any further increase would necessarily cause the sixmonth term of extended supervision (the maximum allowable in Agnew's view) to fall below 25 percent of the confinement time imposed, thereby defying Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(d).¹ (Agnew's Br. 30–31.)

Put differently, Agnew uses 18 months of initial confinement followed by six months of extended supervision as the starting point to assess how much of the penalty enhancer may be added without violating the rules about percentage division of initial confinement and extended supervision.

So although the Legislature provided for habitual criminals like Agnew to face an additional four years of confinement upon conviction, Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(b), under Agnew's theory, the circuit court would be helpless to impose more than one-eighth of that four-year period explicitly provided by statute, or only six months. (Agnew's Br. 30.)

But under the State's interpretation of the statutes, 18 months of initial confinement followed by six months of extended supervision is *not* the correct starting point for

¹ To illustrate, an extended supervision period of six months ordered to follow an initial confinement period of 25 months would equal only 24 percent of the confinement period ordered, one percent less than statutorily mandated. Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(d).

assessing the maximum periods of initial confinement and extended supervision *with* the penalty enhancer.

Stated differently, the statutes permit a circuit court to lawfully impose a greater period of extended supervision and a lesser period of initial confinement *before* assessing the additional confinement time afforded by a penalty enhancer. This, in turn, permits the circuit court to impose more of the penalty enhancer while maintaining the same ratios and without running afoul of the 25-percent rule in Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(d).

2. This Court, in an unpublished opinion, has previously held that the maximum portions of the bifurcated sentence need not be imposed before the court determines how much of the penalty enhancer may apply.

Before the adoption of Truth-in-Sentencing, in 1984, the Wisconsin Supreme Court concluded that the habitual criminality penalty enhancer, Wis. Stat. § 939.62, was not applicable unless a circuit court first imposed a maximum sentence for the base crime. *State v. Harris*, 119 Wis. 2d 612, 614, 350 N.W.2d 633 (1984).²

Thereafter, this Court confronted a permissible Truth-in-Sentencing I sentence in *State v. Kleven.* 2005 WI App 66, 280 Wis. 2d 468, 696 N.W.2d 226. In a footnote, this Court stated, without further explanation, that the maximum

² Truth-in-Sentencing legislation was adopted in Wisconsin in two phases. The first phase, 1997 Wis. Act 283 (TIS-I), was enacted in June 1998 and applied to offenses committed on or after December 31, 1999. The second phase, 2001 Wis. Act 109 (TIS-II),

was enacted in July 2002 and applied to offenses committed on or after February 1, 2003. See State v. Cole, 2003 WI 59, ¶ 4, 262 Wis. 2d 167, 663 N.W.2d 700. Agnew committed the offense in guestian in 2015, thus TIS II applies to his case.

question in 2015, thus TIS-II applies to his case.

9

Case 2019AP001785 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-14-2020 Page 14 of 22

potential initial confinement for the unenhanced crime "must be deemed to have been imposed" for the court to apply Wisconsin's habitual offender penalty enhancer. *Id.* ¶ 26 n.6.

But this Court has since clarified the application of principles underlying *Kleven* to those similarly situated to Agnew, who are sentenced under Truth-in-Sentencing II, highlighting why Agnew's claim before this Court must fail. *State v. Miller*, No. 2013AP2218, 2014 WL 2524837 (Wis. Ct. App. June 5, 2014) (unpublished). (R-App. 101–03.)

In *Miller*, the circuit court imposed a sentence for an enhanced burglary charge consisting of 11 years' initial confinement and four years' extended supervision, for a total sentence length of 15 years. Id. ¶ 5. (R-App. 101.) Absent the penalty enhancer, as a Class E felony, Miller's base charge would have been punishable by no more than 10 years' initial confinement and five years' extended supervision. Wis. Stat. §§ 973.01(2)(b)5., 973.01(2)(d)4.

Miller moved for postconviction relief, arguing that "the circuit court erred when it applied a penalty enhancer to increase his term of initial confinement in prison without first imposing the maximum term of imprisonment," purportedly conflicting with Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1) and *Harris*. *Miller*, 2014 WL 2524837, ¶¶ 1, 6. (R-App. 101.)

Like Agnew, Miller insisted that the circuit court could apply a penalty enhancer only after imposing the maximum term of initial confinement and the maximum term of extended supervision. Id. ¶ 12. (R-App. 102.)

Rejecting Miller's argument, this Court explained:

This legislative history supports our conclusion that [Wis. Stat.] §§ 939.62(1) and 973.01(2)(c), when read together, permit a circuit court to apply a penalty enhancer to increase an individual's term of initial confinement beyond the maximum prescribed by law, without first imposing the maximum term of initial

Case 2019AP001785 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-14-2020 Page 15 of 22

confinement and the maximum term of extended supervision.

Id. (emphasis added).

Additionally, this Court explained that *Harris* had no bearing on Miller's case, both because *Harris* was a pre-Truth-in-Sentencing case and because the circuit court in *Harris* imposed a sentence below the maximum permitted by law, unlike the circuit court that sentenced Miller to a term of initial confinement one year greater than the maximum permitted without a penalty enhancer. *Id.* ¶ 15. (R-App. 103.)

This Court also recognized that *Harris*, if anything, supported the circuit court's imposed sentence, given that Miller was ultimately sentenced to serve a term of initial confinement which exceeded the maximum possible term of confinement for Miller's base burglary offense. *Id.* ¶ 16. (R-App. 103.)

Miller's analysis, albeit non-binding, reveals that this Court has already disagreed with the fundamental premise underlying Agnew's argument; it has recognized that, contrary to Agnew's position, a circuit court need not impose the maximum allowable terms of initial confinement and extended supervision as a prerequisite to applying a sentence enhancer. *Id.* ¶ 12. (R-App. 102.)

C. The circuit court complied with all rules governing the permissible length and division of Agnew's bifurcated sentence.

Assuming this Court's analysis in *Miller* was sound, Agnew's sentence in this case is similarly lawful. Like in *Miller*, Agnew's 2015 crime is a Truth-In-Sentencing II case, and his three-year term of initial confinement exceeded the maximum possible term of confinement that the circuit court could order absent the penalty enhancer. *See* Wis. Stat. § 346.65(3m).

Case 2019AP001785 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-14-2020 Page 16 of 22

Of particular importance in this case, if Agnew were not a habitual offender, the circuit court could have lawfully sentenced him to serve one year initial confinement and one year extended supervision on the base offense, as this bifurcated sentence would have satisfied Wis. Stat. §§ 973.01(2)(b)10. (establishing maximum initial confinement composition of aggregate sentence) and 973.01(2)(d) (establishing minimum extended supervision composition ratio in conjunction with imposed confinement).

Although not required to do so, the circuit court here imposed that exact term of extended supervision (one year) on the enhanced charge. (R. 66:1; 71:1; 86:30–31.) Again, the circuit court did not have to start with 18 months of initial confinement and six months of extended supervision as its base point, because—pursuant to the statutes and *Miller*—it did not have to impose the *maximum* period of initial confinement on the base offense (18 months) before it determined the proper bifurcation.

The court's sentence also complied with *Volk* because the circuit court did not allocate any portion of the sentence enhancer to Agnew's extended supervision term; the amount of extended supervision was lawful even without the penalty enhancer. Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(d). The court proceeded to impose a term of initial confinement that exceeded the maximum permissible term for the base offense, which was lawful because Agnew's charges were enhanced due to his habitual criminality. Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(b).

Imposing that additional confinement still required the court to abide by the above-referenced 25-percent rule set forth by Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(d). Put another way, the court could impose additional confinement by virtue of the penalty enhancer if that increase did not result in the ordered term of extended supervision falling below 25 percent of the increased term of initial confinement. Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(d).

Case 2019AP001785 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-14-2020 Page 17 of 22

Here, the circuit court was entitled to order Agnew to serve 36 months of initial confinement—18 months more than it could have imposed absent the penalty enhancer—and that sentence resulted in a one-year term of extended supervision totaling one-third of the term of initial confinement, thus satisfying the 25-percent rule. Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(d). That 36-month term of initial confinement constituted exactly 75 percent of the total bifurcated sentence, also satisfying Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(b)10.

Finally, neither *Harris* nor *Kleven* prevented the circuit court from imposing that sentence as the circuit court's ordered term of initial confinement was double the maximum term of initial confinement permissible for Agnew's base offense, and Agnew was sentenced well after the enactment of Truth-in-Sentencing II. *See Miller*, 2014 WL 2524837, ¶ 15–16. (R-App. 103.)

In sum, the circuit court imposed a lawful sentence that did not exceed the maximum permissible terms of initial confinement and extended supervision. This Court should reiterate, in a published opinion, its past recognition that the principle upon which Agnew bases his argument is inapplicable to his case, both because he was sentenced after the enactment of Truth-in-Sentencing II and because the imposed term of initial confinement exceeded that which was available for his base offense. *Id.* Accordingly, this Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the judgment of conviction and order denying postconviction relief.